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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen, this is the Committee on

          4  General Welfare. I am Council Member Steve

          5  DiBrienza. We are joined today by various members of

          6  the Committee and Council.

          7                 Let me introduce the members of the

          8  Committee. The Reverend Lloyd Henry, Council Member

          9  from Brooklyn. Council Member Guillermo Linares,

         10  from Manhattan. Council Member Bill Perkins, from

         11  Manhattan. Councilman Angel Rodriguez, Brooklyn, and

         12  Council Member Mike Abel, Queens.

         13                 In addition, we are joined by Council

         14  Member John Sabini, who you will hear from

         15  momentarily, and who is the Council member who

         16  brought this issue to the attention, not only of

         17  this Committee and Council, but of all of our City,

         18  just a short while ago, having done some background

         19  and work and having some public attention placed on

         20  the issue of hunger, school lunches, what we do with

         21  them, what we don't do with them, once it is clear

         22  that there are excess lunches in given facilities,

         23  and, again, you will hear from him in a moment.

         24                 Before we begin the actual hearing,

         25  let me introduce students from Oyster Bay High
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          2  School, 150 East Main Street in Oyster Bay, New

          3  York. They are taking a tour of City Hall today,

          4  they are with us in the balcony. Sure, you guys can

          5  stand, that would be nice. Welcome to City Hall.

          6                 I understand there are about 35 of

          7  you attending with a Connie Gallo it looks like, and

          8  Bruce Nivorchik. I assume those are teachers and

          9  coordinators from the high school. We welcome you.

         10  It is an interesting place to be, to see City

         11  government in action. Not only do you get a little

         12  bit of a historical tour, but there are often

         13  Committee meetings like this that run while people

         14  come and tour. In this case, as I say, we are

         15  discussing issues of hunger throughout the City and

         16  school lunches. There are programs that provide

         17  school lunches for thousands and thousands of

         18  children, there are often excess lunches that go

         19  unused and uncut, it raises a question rather than

         20  throw them out, which often is the case, is there

         21  something we can do with them. We think there is

         22  more productive use, and you will hear some of that,

         23  although I know you won't be staying for the whole

         24  hearing because they keep you moving on these tours.

         25                 In any event, welcome to City Hall.
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          2                 Again, by way of a quick background,

          3  we all know that hunger remains a problem in this

          4  City, state and nation, in a time of unprecedented

          5  economic power, expansion and growth. There are

          6  still too many people who go to bed hungry,

          7  particularly children. If you look back in our

          8  history, it is one of the areas where we used to do

          9  better. In the sixties and seventies the federal

         10  government was responding, congress was responding,

         11  there were a number of programs, including the Food

         12  Stamp Act, Child Nutrition Act, School Breakfast

         13  Program, and there really is a list of programs that

         14  were initiated and began to make a serious dent in

         15  the hunger statistics, the hunger problem.

         16                 Through the eighties, of course, and

         17  the great -- that's in quotes and it is not

         18  attributed to me -- the great Reagan eighties, some

         19  people got a lot wealthier and a lot more people got

         20  hungrier, and a number of programs were not

         21  fulfilled, hunger statistics I think began to track

         22  back up. There are a number of opportunities to

         23  change that. I know in the nineties, the federal

         24  government took some action allowing for, or taking

         25  a look at school lunch programs and what happened to
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          2  school lunches and what happens to excess lunches

          3  and what would and could be allowed for states to

          4  do, whether or not those lunches could be recaptured

          5  and redistributed to people who were hungry.

          6                 That brings us to today, and the work

          7  of Council Member Sabini.

          8                 We have this resolution urging the

          9  Board of Education to implement a school lunch

         10  recovery program. It would be based on the U.S.

         11  Department of Agriculture's Food Recovery and

         12  Gleaning Program where excess food would be donated

         13  to emergency food programs, and/or soup kitchens in

         14  a way that many of these programs, one or more of

         15  them could, accumulate, pick up, if you will, the

         16  food very often, and then redistribute it to hungry

         17  New Yorkers.

         18                 It seems like a simple and effective

         19  way to, but yet a creative way, to make a dent in

         20  the hunger statistics that are out there, the level

         21  of hunger that translates to real people who go to

         22  bed hungry and we do everything we can to change

         23  that.

         24                 So, let me turn to Council Member

         25  John Sabini, and then we will hear from four
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          2  witnesses. First, folks who will talk about the

          3  overall situation as regards hunger and numbers and

          4  people involved. Then the federal government, just

          5  to clarify for us exactly what this program

          6  contemplates or allows. Then one of the providers

          7  who could I think be in the position to pick up and

          8  redistribute, and then the Board of Ed

          9  representative to talk about where they are and what

         10  they are willing to consider.

         11                 Council Member Sabini, we thank you

         12  for bringing this issue to our attention, I turn the

         13  microphone to you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman, and thank you for holding this hearing.

         16                 Many years ago, I had the privilege

         17  of working with the late Harry Chapin on issues

         18  regarding food and hunger and Harry's vision was to

         19  educate people as to why people are hungry, because

         20  there are some reasons, there are some real policy

         21  reasons, there are some inertia policy reasons,

         22  there are some deliberate policy reasons people are

         23  hungry, there is enough food to go around in the

         24  world, it just doesn't always get to the people who

         25  need it.
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          2                 This issue was brought to the

          3  attention of myself by some food activists and

          4  really the spotlight was brought forward by channel

          5  4 and Carolyn Rodell and the report on the waste

          6  that the Board of Ed commits by not using all of its

          7  food and distributing it where it is needed.

          8                 The Board of Education is always

          9  under a lot of heat. We heard that yesterday in the

         10  Speaker's State of the City Address, the Mayor, of

         11  course, says it as well. And we can argue the merits

         12  of the Board of Education's efficacy in educating

         13  our children. One of the things I find that the

         14  Board of Ed doesn't do well is things that people

         15  aren't used to seeing them do and people don't

         16  always know how to complain about it, and that is

         17  the non-pedagogical things, the security, the busing

         18  and in this case the distribution of food, and it

         19  frankly took Channel 4 using film of food still

         20  warm, smoke coming off of it, and thrown out outside

         21  schools and sitting in bags and dumpsters, to make

         22  them admit that they even had a problem, because up

         23  until then there was no waste, even though they feed

         24  800,000 people a day, 810,000 people a day, the

         25  Board of Education was trying to tell people that
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          2  there was no waste. Well, if you make dinner for

          3  four there is always leftovers, if you are making

          4  lunch and breakfast for 810,000, I think any

          5  reasonable person would admit there is going to be

          6  leftovers.

          7                 The Board of Ed supplies more meals

          8  than any place else in America except the military,

          9  and we should be using whatever they have left over,

         10  and whatever they have left over, wherever they have

         11  it left over, and allow the people that can provide

         12  those meals to where they are needed, but let them

         13  have a crack at it while the meals are still good.

         14                 The federal Department of Agriculture

         15  has programs that have facilitated this exchange of

         16  food throughout the country. We haven't participated

         17  in it, and we should, because there are hungry New

         18  Yorkers, it is estimated 400,000 people go hungry in

         19  New York every day, and this isn't necessarily about

         20  a handout, it is more about not wasting - not

         21  wasting the taxpayers' dollars, not wasting the food

         22  that could be put to good use. We all when we were

         23  children heard about clean your plate, that there

         24  are people that need that food, that is still true.

         25  Mom's advice was good.
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          2                 So, I thank you for holding this

          3  hearing, and I thank Channel 4 for bringing the

          4  spotlight on this issue to all New Yorkers, because

          5  without that report, especially without the use of

          6  film showing the food actually being wasted, we

          7  wouldn't be here today to address the issue and try

          8  and solve it. And I thank you for providing us with

          9  the forum, that the Council is so good at, getting

         10  everyone at the table together and saying what are

         11  we doing about it, instead of people talking

         12  independently at each other in press releases, try

         13  and work together to get a solution so the food

         14  doesn't get wasted and goes to people that need it.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         17  Council Member.

         18                 As you know, this Committee is always

         19  looking to put together sort of full hearings where

         20  we do hear outlines, you know, the big issue, the

         21  big problem, the specific example, you know, the

         22  size, if you will, of the story, with an eye towards

         23  solution, be it legislative, budgetary or in this

         24  case asking another entity of government, another

         25  entity of government to do better. And I just want
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          2  to say, as we begin to introduce the first

          3  witnesses, you make a critical point, this is food

          4  already paid for by all of us as taxpayers and all

          5  levels of government. This is food already serving

          6  countless thousands of children in this City, but

          7  can do so much more if we are creative, if we put

          8  the energy together, if, you know, the square peg

          9  begins to fit in the round hole, which is not always

         10  what government is best at.

         11                 Government is real good, very often

         12  it's square pegs and square holes. Square pegs and

         13  round holes we are not always so good at and let's

         14  try to see if this hearing can help fit those two

         15  things together.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 Our first witnesses are Kathy Goldman

         18  and Agnes Molnar. They are is from the organization

         19  that many of us know, the Community Food Resource

         20  Center. They do wonderful work addressing the needs

         21  of New Yorkers in need, and we are glad to have them

         22  with us to kind of give us an overview of what is

         23  really happening in too many parts of our City when

         24  it relates to hunger and children and families.

         25                 You should know, and I know you have
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          2  observed many of the hearings and may have even

          3  participated, I know Ms. Goldman has, that all

          4  witnesses that come before the General Welfare

          5  Committee are first addressed counsel, so as to

          6  swear or affirm your evidence or your testimony. So,

          7  I direct your attention to Counsel to the Committee.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          9  hands.

         10                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         11  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         12  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 MS. GOLDMAN: To the best of my

         14  ability.

         15                 MS. MOLNAR: Yes.

         16                 MR. NEWMAN: State your names and

         17  affiliation for the record.

         18                 MS. GOLDMAN: I am Cathy Goldman, the

         19  Executive Director of Community Food Resource

         20  Center.

         21                 I want to, first of all apologize

         22  that we don't have any written testimony, but I will

         23  try to keep this as brief as possible. And second of

         24  all, I would like to echo the remarks of Chairman

         25  DiBrienza.
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          2                 The reason that we asked to testify

          3  and actually we were asked to testify, is that we

          4  run one of the biggest food kitchens in this City,

          5  and City Harvest does an excellent job in recovering

          6  food, but that is really not at all the answer to

          7  the hunger problem in New York City, and we are the

          8  first to admit it. We do it because you have to do

          9  something until the solutions, or more dramatic

         10  solutions are found. And I just want to say that in

         11  New York City what has happened is that it has

         12  gotten worse in the last period.

         13                 As you all know, and whatever your

         14  attitude about the number of people that have been

         15  put off or forced off or shoved off the welfare

         16  rolls, they should be helped to remain on those

         17  programs which will help them as they transition

         18  hopefully to work.

         19                 What has happened is that we have

         20  lost, 400,000 people have lost food stamps over the

         21  past four years, and that has caused a huge increase

         22  and pressure on the emergency food providers, so

         23  that there is a 26 percent increase in the number of

         24  people coming to soup kitchens and food pantries

         25  around the City.
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          2                 And I think one of the reasons that

          3  this initiative is being put forward is an attempt

          4  to do something because we can't meet the need.

          5                 I mean, you have 47,000 people being

          6  turned away every month from emergency providers,

          7  this is ridiculous. But the point I want to make is

          8  that they wouldn't be coming there in the first

          9  place, or certainly in not these kind of numbers,

         10  had we not pushed people off the food stamp program.

         11  So, this is a really major problem for this City to

         12  look at. I mean, Chairman DiBrienza is absolutely

         13  right, we had resolved some of these problems, we

         14  were not in this kind of soup, so-to-speak, a few

         15  years ago, and here we are again and it is getting

         16  worse.

         17                 So, we are not opposing this

         18  initiative, but we want to put it in some kind of

         19  context. This is not going to solve anything, in

         20  terms of what we need to do. The School Food

         21  Programs Agnes will talk about more in detail, but

         22  we do think in general that if they were running at

         23  the highest efficiency, we are not going to have a

         24  lot of meals left over, and it is not going to do

         25  what we need for the number of people that are
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          2  coming to us. Our kitchen, which is on 116th Street

          3  and West Harlem in Council Member Perkins' District,

          4  was feeding an average of 400 people up until a year

          5  and a half ago and we are now running an average of

          6  over 600 every day, and this is not going to be

          7  resolved by, you know, the ten left over meals at a

          8  school. So, that is our purpose in coming here, is

          9  to raise this issue with you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Please go

         11  ahead.

         12                 MS. MOLNAR: Thank you. I am Agnes

         13  Molnar, and I am Associate Director at Community

         14  Food Resource Center.

         15                 I have been working at Community Food

         16  Resource Center for 20 years, and basically most of

         17  that time I have been monitoring the school food

         18  programs in the schools and looking at what is going

         19  on there, and I truthfully was surprised to hear

         20  that there are large numbers of leftovers.

         21  Personally, I have never seen them. The way I

         22  understand the system to work, it is not supposed to

         23  happen.

         24                 My bigger concern, and then I will

         25  get back to that in a minute, is rather I see
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          2  children who are themselves hungry in school and not

          3  eating the food and that is a very big concern.

          4  These are the same hungry kids whose families go to

          5  the soup kitchens because they don't have enough

          6  food, and why aren't all of our hungry children

          7  eating in school, is the bigger question that I

          8  have.

          9                 We have over a million school

         10  children attending every day, 830,000 of them come

         11  from low-income families, those children should be

         12  getting free or reduced priced meals, and we serve

         13  on an average 158,000 breakfasts a day, and 658,000

         14  lunches a day. So, we always look at, well, there

         15  are at least 200,000 kids who are of low-income

         16  families in school every day that don't eat lunch.

         17  What are they doing?

         18                 Clearly, a lot of them eat breakfast

         19  at home, but we also do surveys where many of them

         20  we find don't eat breakfast at all, and they are not

         21  eating breakfast in school, and where are those kids

         22  eating. We find out most of them don't eat anything

         23  or they eat expensive junk food.

         24                 So, you know, we look at this issue a

         25  little differently. And if there are large numbers
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          2  of food left over, the way the system should work

          3  is, you have a school of 500 kids, well, you know

          4  that when you have chicken you are going to have 400

          5  kids wanting chicken and they always have a choice

          6  of something else. So, another 100 kids might want

          7  fish, maybe. So, you don't prepare 500 chicken

          8  meals, you prepare maybe 420, and maybe 120 fish

          9  meals or whatever, and you know this over time. A

         10  good cook and a good manager understand what their

         11  clientele will eat, and they should not overproduce.

         12                 And then the way to not have

         13  leftovers is, you don't cook it all at once, you do

         14  it in batches. Kids come in different lunch periods,

         15  so you maybe cook 30, 40, 50 at a time that your

         16  ovens can handle, and you never even defrost some of

         17  those that you know are not going to be served.

         18                 So, the issue of these large numbers

         19  of leftovers really leaves me with a big question:

         20  Why? What are they not doing that this is happening?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         22                 MS. MOLNAR: And to me, what I have

         23  seen more often is going to school and seeing that

         24  they run out of food, that they had on the menu

         25  chicken and fish, but all of a sudden kids are
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          2  getting peanut butter and jelly sandwiches, which is

          3  another staple that is always there. What happened

          4  to the chicken and the fish? That I have seen much

          5  more often than food being thrown away.

          6                 Now, no doubt there are schools that

          7  will have food left over because they have

          8  mismanaged. That food has been paid for by the

          9  federal government. It is unfortunate that that

         10  money is in a sense not being used instead to hire

         11  more staff to do more cooking so that the kids who

         12  should be eating the food will eat the food.

         13                 This is where I think, you know, we

         14  have a little mix of priorities that is not

         15  absolutely correct. We hear that there is not enough

         16  staff, they can't do cooking. Labor is much more

         17  expensive than food. So, they buy all of these

         18  prepared frozen items and reheat them.

         19                 Well, you don't have to much

         20  flexibility to give kids what they like or to do a

         21  lot of cooking so that the kids will eat the food.

         22                 That is where the system should

         23  change basically.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         25  Thank you, both.
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          2                 You should know that, of course, the

          3  overall operations of the programs and all of the

          4  aspects of the Board of Education fall under the

          5  Education Committee and they do various hearings

          6  about how the system operates and how it can operate

          7  better.

          8                 In the short range, however, I think

          9  Council Member Sabini correctly and I think the

         10  attention given to this correctly points to the

         11  current reality, which is what we are trying to (a)

         12  recognize, and (b) make sort of positive changes to

         13  that current reality, that is to say there is a

         14  percentage of the food that goes unused and

         15  untouched. It is in good condition from all

         16  accounts. It perhaps could be recovered and

         17  redistributed, because the federal government (a)

         18  allows it and there are programs that do it, so we

         19  appreciate your giving us that global picture that

         20  these kinds of systems need be better and operate

         21  more efficiently and thank you for that testimony.

         22                 In the short range, we don't want to,

         23  if we can effect it positively, avoid making things

         24  better for however many numbers of children or

         25  families that we can make things better for while we
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          2  await that sort of global change to a system.

          3                 So, it's important to point it out,

          4  but I think it is equally important for us to hear

          5  from the specific players involved in this specific

          6  set of circumstances.

          7                 So, thank you for the overall

          8  testimony and confirming that not only the systems

          9  can be improved but that hunger and presence in soup

         10  kitchens are up, it's no surprise, the HRA which is

         11  supposed to assist New Yorkers in need, has waged

         12  war on them for years. They have been sued in order

         13  to allow people to apply for food stamps, actually

         14  because they denied people their rights, they lost

         15  that case, it is no surprise that from 400,000 to

         16  600,000 or from 400 to 600 a day I should say, you

         17  know, such a dramatic increase and that is probably

         18  true of all of the facilities that do this kind of

         19  volunteer work.

         20                 Thank you, both, for your testimony.

         21                 Let us turn to the next witnesses.

         22  This is the federal government representative, let

         23  me get it right Joel Berg, the U.S. Department of

         24  Agriculture.

         25                 Let me (a) introduce the rest of the
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          2  members, and then remind of course if they have

          3  questions, starting with Mr. Berg and of the three

          4  remaining witnesses who are here specifically for

          5  this resolution, of course just give us a heads up.

          6                 We have been joined by Council

          7  Members Ronnie Eldridge and Malave-Dilan, and I

          8  think I just introduced everyone else. I did

          9  introduce Councilman Rodriguez at the first round.

         10  Again, all of the members of the Committee and

         11  Councilman Sabini are actively concerned with this

         12  notion that perhaps the Board of Ed could implement

         13  a school lunch recovery program based on the USDA's

         14  Food Recovery and Gleaning Program, where excess

         15  food would be donated to emergency programs and food

         16  kitchens be redistributed, if you will.

         17                 So, if you can direct your attention

         18  to the Counsel of the Committee first, and then

         19  present your testimony on this topic, we will

         20  appreciate it.

         21                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         22  hand.

         23                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         24  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MR. BERG: I do.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

          4  and affiliation for the record.

          5                 MR. BERG: My name is Joel Berg, and

          6  for the next day and a half I am from the

          7  Clinton/Gore Administration, I work for the

          8  Secretary of Agriculture in Washington, D.C.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, we

         10  appreciate your spending some of that day and a half

         11  with us.

         12                 MR. BERG: Well, as a native New

         13  Yorker, it is good to return from exile.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you for

         15  being here.

         16                 MR. BERG: Good morning, and I do

         17  appreciate the ability to come before the Council

         18  and talk about this vital issue.

         19                 You have heard about some of the

         20  statistics of hunger. In the best economy in decades

         21  we have over 30 million Americans at risk of hunger,

         22  over 10 million actually in households that suffer

         23  from hunger, over 2 million American children

         24  actually go hungry at some time during the year, and

         25  while we don't have updated statistics for New York
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          2  City, we do know that hunger tracks with poverty, we

          3  know there are significant levels of poverty in New

          4  York City, so it is no shock there are significant

          5  levels of hunger here, despite this great economy.

          6                 We also know that there is enormous

          7  amount of food waste at every level of the waste

          8  production stream, the food production stream, from

          9  the farm, to the factory, to the food service,

         10  outlets, to schools, to military bases that we have

         11  worked with, even UFDA's own cafeteria occasionally

         12  has overage, and I will come back to that in a

         13  second.

         14                 Now, I left New York a little over a

         15  decade ago and when I was here there were some

         16  problems with solid waste, a certain borough didn't

         17  want landfills anymore and you were talking about

         18  incinerators, so I am glad you have solved that

         19  problem since I left so it is no longer an issue,

         20  but it really is, all kidding aside, a major issue

         21  throughout the United States. The Environmental

         22  Protection Agency estimates that taxpayers across

         23  the country spent a billion dollars a year of

         24  disposing of food waste, which is the largest single

         25  component to the solid waste stream.
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          2                 So, you have three things. You have

          3  enormous hunger, you have a lot of food waste and

          4  you have a devastating environmental impact of the

          5  food waste, it all leads to a logical conclusion

          6  that my boss, Secretary of Agriculture, Glickman

          7  came to, that we have got to do something to aid the

          8  recovery and gleaning and donation of excess food.

          9                 We knew when we started we didn't

         10  have to start from scratch, there were excellent

         11  organizations around the country, and I am not just

         12  saying this to pander but City Harvest and Food for

         13  Survival and many other groups here really are among

         14  the finest in the country. I have actually gone out

         15  on a truck with City Harvest and collected food from

         16  some of the finest service establishments in the

         17  country. They are incredibly well equipped, and,

         18  frankly, New York City has the non-profit

         19  infrastructure that is far better able to handle

         20  food donations than the vast majority of projects we

         21  have worked with around the country.  So, if there

         22  is any place it should be happening, it should be

         23  happening here.

         24                 I would agree with the previous

         25  witnesses on one key point; and that is, plead not
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          2  to let anyone use this vital work as an excuse or

          3  justification to further gut the federal nutrition

          4  safety net.

          5                 We have worked very hard in this

          6  Administration to restore food stamps benefits cut

          7  by congress, we have had some differences with parts

          8  of City government over food stamps, as were

          9  discussed previously. As you know, it is federal law

         10  that when you show up at a food stamps office and

         11  you are entitled to receive food stamps, they have

         12  to give you an application, not send you to a food

         13  pantry or some place else. We think it is critical

         14  to continue focus on food stamps, WICK, School

         15  Meals. We just gave a grant to New York State,

         16  including the City, to get vouchers for senior

         17  citizens by food at the Farmer's Markets.

         18                 So, we think the federal nutrition

         19  safety net first and foremost must be strengthened,

         20  and goodness forbid, people need a living wage.

         21                 That being said, I really would

         22  differ a little with witnesses in that it is not an

         23  either/or. We need to do both. We need to have

         24  robust nutrition safety nets, and we need to do

         25  better with food waste, for environmental reasons,
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          2  for conscience reasons, for smart spending of tax

          3  dollars, and also the message we send and using it

          4  as really an educational tool for young people

          5  around the country.

          6                 I would say the first reaction of

          7  everyone in food service I have dealt with, from the

          8  people who run the USDA cafeteria, to commanders at

          9  a military installation, that shall go nameless, is

         10  we don't have this. We don't have this, we are good

         11  food service managers, I am a little concerned with

         12  the previous testimony given the impression, as

         13  correct as they absolutely were about the vital

         14  nature of the federal nutrition safety net, is I

         15  don't want to give the impression that where there

         16  is food waste, there is mismanagement. There is food

         17  excess in virtually very part of the food production

         18  system and in most cases it has nothing to do with

         19  mismanagement.

         20                 Occasionally it snows here when you

         21  are not expecting it. Occasionally kids have a flu

         22  here when you are not expecting it, and occasionally

         23  no one on the planet can predict whether 15 year

         24  olds are going to want chicken or fish. So,

         25  ironically, the issue that was mentioned that you
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          2  would run out of food, in many cases the only way to

          3  prevent that is making sure you have a little extra.

          4  So, I hope this doesn't engage in any sort of

          5  bashing of any particular school system. It is just

          6  the normal human reaction, managers say there is no

          7  waste, and there just is, in every type of food

          8  production, I have been on arms, every place else.

          9                 I would just like to say this, as

         10  well. We created, not really a program, an

         11  initiative, and I am the only full-time person in

         12  the entire federal government, we have 110,000

         13  employees, I am the only full-time person doing it.

         14  Because it is not really a program, we are just

         15  encouraging City governments, county governments,

         16  local governments, non-profit organizations to hook

         17  up where there is food. Yes, we gave small grants,

         18  and that was basically just to encourage best

         19  practices to highlight what was already being done.

         20  You really don't need a dime from the federal

         21  government to do this. Our program consisted

         22  basically of a memo we sent around the country that

         23  said, you may have had the false impression that the

         24  federal government wants you to throw this out, we

         25  don't.
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          2                 And people from around the country

          3  say, well, what forms do we have to fill out to do

          4  this? There are none. Well, what waivers do we need?

          5  There are none. What reports do you have to follow

          6  with the federal government? There are none.

          7                 It is really simple. You have to find

          8  out where there is excess food, find a legitimate

          9  organization or organizations that have the food

         10  safety training, I understand John Krakowski from

         11  City Harvest is going to be speaking later. I have

         12  known John for years, he is one of the most

         13  accomplished food safety professionals on the

         14  planet, he teaches courses on it. Their motto is,

         15  when in doubt, throw it out. There is no food safety

         16  risk.

         17                 I have been doing this for the

         18  federal government for a few years now, traveling to

         19  dozens and dozens of states, none loved as much as

         20  here, but I have got to tell you, I don't want to

         21  say it is never going to happen because every time

         22  you stand in front of Value Jet and say that the

         23  airline is fine, something is going to happen, but

         24  let me put it this way: Donated food is no less safe

         25  than any other food, if handled properly.
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          2                 The same food, the Councilman gave of

          3  leftovers in your own family, and we are not talking

          4  about taking food off of a plate. We are not talking

          5  about plate waste, we are talking about stuff in

          6  trays that is perfectly fine and was never eaten in

          7  any way, shape or form.

          8                 So, just encourage the school

          9  district to continue working with the City

         10  government, and find profit groups to do this work,

         11  it's a great opportunity to involve young people in

         12  service learning to really begin the ethic of

         13  service early in life to learn about the broader

         14  problems of hunger and to really get this job done

         15  and I don't want to infringe on anyone's copyright,

         16  but I would say the phrase just do it really is

         17  applicable here, it's not difficult, it doesn't mean

         18  you are getting safety net, it's a good learning

         19  experience, it's a better use of taxpayer funds,

         20  it's perfectly safe and it will make people feel

         21  good about the job they do, knowing that not an

         22  ounce of excess food -- and you know, occasionally

         23  there is going to be stuff that is bad. We have no

         24  estimates of how much stuff is bad, there is stuff,

         25  and we are not saying that should be used, but in a
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          2  place this big where there is much food being served

          3  there will be plenty of edible, excess food that

          4  should be donated to New Yorkers in need.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. You

          7  might see a look of a little bit of amazement on

          8  some of my colleagues and my own faces, it's only

          9  because we are not as used to witnesses coming in

         10  that are part of the government, because we deal

         11  with the City government and this Administration all

         12  the time, being as clear and concise and as

         13  straightforward as you were in the last day and a

         14  half of your tenure in the federal government.

         15                 MR. BERG: Well, I was warned on my

         16  last two days not to be political, so I won't say

         17  anything about that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Well,

         19  still, it was very clear and helpful. We have some

         20  members who have questions. I am going to turn

         21  first, which is out of the ordinary, but, again,

         22  this is the sponsor of the resolution who brought

         23  this problem to our attention, to Council Member

         24  John Sabini, then to members of the Committee. And

         25  then at the end I may have one or two.
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          2                 Let me turn to Council Member Sabini.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman.

          5                 Mr. Berg, we appreciate your passion

          6  for your job, and we hope you find a way to stay in

          7  public service because it is clear that you care

          8  about what you are doing as much as you enjoy it.

          9                 When the Department of Agriculture

         10  awarded grants to 12 school districts in 1996 to

         11  promote and enact food recovery, what was the

         12  percentage of excess food that those districts could

         13  quantify?

         14                 MR. BERG: We really did not ask them

         15  to quantify it, and we really haven't quantified it.

         16                 And part of that is, they were

         17  already scared to death of us. Even before we issued

         18  the memorandum saying that it is not against USDA

         19  regulations, there is a common belief around the

         20  country that it was, even though it never was. And

         21  many people would blame us when we had never said it

         22  was against our regulation, so we never asked and

         23  were not counting.

         24                 And one of the things we discussed

         25  when we created this grant program, and I was in
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          2  charge of that program, is whether as part of our

          3  performance measures, because we really have been

          4  trying to measure results in government, another

          5  crazy idea that when these tax dollars, even these

          6  microgrants, I mean $10,000, some school districts

          7  probably spend more in staff time preparing our

          8  grant than they do, the amount of money they get, we

          9  really debated, should we get extra points for

         10  people who are going to say they were going to

         11  donate more food, and we decided no we didn't want

         12  to do that, because that could give really a

         13  mis-message that we are somehow encouraging over

         14  production. So, we don't want to count already our

         15  office of Inspector General and our auditors and our

         16  accountants, they do all that, but we really wanted

         17  to separate the regulatory side from this

         18  encouragement so we really do have no statistics on

         19  that. I will just say it varies seasonally, it

         20  varies by school district but it happens everywhere,

         21  even in the best managed food service operations on

         22  the planet.

         23                 I have actually done a little

         24  traveling abroad where they have this problem from

         25  Japan to Europe, so it is not unique here, although
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          2  we don't have specific numbers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The 12

          4  districts that were selected. After they were

          5  selected and became part of their program, did their

          6  excess food drop because they became more aware of

          7  what they had been doing?

          8                 MR. BERG: Oh, absolutely, their

          9  excess dropped. And the unfortunate irony that

         10  groups like City Harvest and Food for Survival face

         11  is as they bring entities aware of the waste that

         12  exists in their stream, those entities find ways to

         13  cut it down by reducing the donations to the people

         14  who brought the problem to their attention in the

         15  first place.

         16                 So, each and every one of these

         17  school districts found ways to reduce the amount of

         18  excess waste.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And based on

         20  your testimony, despite what our litigious society

         21  might have believed, that there has not been one

         22  claim against any school district that the donated

         23  food came from?

         24                 MR. BERG: That is correct. And to my

         25  knowledge there has not been one claim against any
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          2  entity. Now, I don't want to mislead you,

          3  governments are not protected by the Bill Emerson

          4  Good Samaritan Food Donation Act, but congress did

          5  pass in a bipartisan manner and the President did

          6  sign into law in 1996 a bill that protects all

          7  private donors and non-profit organizations engaged

          8  in food donations from civil and criminal liability

          9  in the case of any problem.

         10                 But even with that law, we don't say,

         11  okay, you are protected from the law, go ahead and

         12  give kids E.coli, we are still very, very careful

         13  about food safety in the Department of Agriculture,

         14  also the Food Safety Department, my first week on

         15  the job of the Department, kids started dying of

         16  E.coli in the Pacific Northwest from food they

         17  purchased at fastfood establishments, so we are very

         18  careful about food safety, but the remaining fact

         19  is, to my knowledge, in at least the five years we

         20  have been doing this nationwide, there has not been

         21  a single lawsuit even filed, no less won, against

         22  any non-profit group, any government entity, anyone.

         23  And I don't even know of a case of food sickness or

         24  food-borne illness that was created by donated food.

         25                 I am not saying it will never happen,
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          2  I am saying it has never come to our attention as a

          3  federal agency.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERG: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Berg.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          8  Council Member.

          9                 Council Member Linares.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Berg, for testifying.

         13  As a former teacher and school board member and a

         14  parent also with children in the public school

         15  system, and representing a district that is

         16  extremely overcrowded, of low-income families,

         17  middle income families, immigrants, this clearly

         18  comes to the heart of what we as a country need to

         19  do to make sure that our children don't go hungry,

         20  and our families don't go hungry.

         21                 My question to you is from the

         22  federal level and from your perspective is we want

         23  to provide the incentives for the Board of

         24  Education, for the leadership of communities and

         25  neighborhoods to take advantage of additional food
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          2  that would not go to waste. What type of incentives

          3  can you share have been provided by the Department

          4  that you represent here, and how do you foresee

          5  those incentives facilitating the role of the Board

          6  of Education or the role of a non-profit

          7  organization that sometimes, if they assume any role

          8  in helping facilitate this food for those in need,

          9  would require additional resources to facilitate

         10  this, it would benefit the government and it would

         11  benefit those in need in the community as well. And

         12  I was just wondering if you could share with us

         13  places where you have seen not just government but

         14  also the private sector, that sometimes can step up

         15  and have demonstrated also ways of helping with this

         16  as a way of making sure that no one in any community

         17  goes hungry?

         18                 MR. BERG: Thank you, that's an

         19  excellent question.

         20                 First, I don't have to tell you, City

         21  government, like federal government, the executive

         22  branch proposes budget items, and then the

         23  legislative arm either gives it or does not.

         24                 Three years in a row the Clinton/Gore

         25  Administration has proposed funding to Congress to
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          2  be able to give small grants like the ones we

          3  previously gave for a one-time pot of money to

          4  faith-based organizations that we hear so much

          5  about, to non-profit groups we hear so much about,

          6  unfortunately, the majority in this current Congress

          7  and the previous three Congresses did not give us

          8  any of that funding. I hope the new Administration

          9  will seek similar funding, maybe they will call it

         10  something different, but certainly keeping in mind

         11  what the President Elect said he wants to do.

         12                 That being said, I want to caution

         13  that you really don't need new money to do this. You

         14  know, the money we provided was for people to buy

         15  pots and pans and aluminum foil, or to do a video

         16  explaining to other students how to do this.

         17                 I want to be clear, we gave up money

         18  to 12 school districts, but many, many more, we

         19  don't have an exact count across the country, do

         20  this without getting a cent from the federal

         21  government.

         22                 I would bet, and you can ask City

         23  Harvest after this, they would pick up all the

         24  minimum cost of the containers needed to do this.

         25                 Now, as for incentives, we try to
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          2  give national publicity for this, as we have said,

          3  since a lot of people fear that we were going to

          4  kind of ding them. You know, my boss, the Secretary

          5  of Agriculture, has been out front speaking all

          6  across the country about this, our Under Secretary

          7  for Food and Nutrition Services has a great amount

          8  of credibility on this issue. She ran School Food

          9  Services in Memphis, Tennessee way before she ever

         10  came to the Department. She donated extra food from

         11  this Food Services, she didn't tell us that when she

         12  wasn't in the federal government she feared the

         13  federal government. She was also President of the

         14  American School Food Service Association, the trade

         15  association that represents school food service

         16  professionals around the country, so she sends out a

         17  message that this was an acceptable thing.

         18                 I say, to give a briefer answer than

         19  most people in government usually give, the most

         20  simple thing you have got to do is take away the

         21  stigma. You have got to move away from, okay, people

         22  are mismanaging, there is waste, et cetera. It's a

         23  part of life. You know, if you have ever gone away

         24  on vacation and you found stuff in your refrigerator

         25  you didn't expect and you gave it to the neighbors
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          2  or you threw it out, institutions are the same.

          3                 So, if we were to work cooperatively

          4  with the School Food Service professionals who are

          5  working very hard under very difficult circumstances

          6  from ridiculous federal regulations to problems, to

          7  helpful input from the school board to complaints

          8  from the Committee, and just say, you know, it's

          9  okay there is waste, let's find a way to do this,

         10  let's work together on this, I think with very

         11  little incentive they can do this. And I will just

         12  say, in every one of these 12 school districts,

         13  universally they reported it was a positive thing.

         14  The community liked it, the school board liked it,

         15  the school food service professionals liked it, the

         16  teachers involved in using this as a way to provide

         17  education, the students liked it, so it really is a

         18  win/win that speaks for itself.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20                 Council Member Eldridge, then Perkins

         21  and then we are done.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         23                 I just would like to ask first the

         24  Chair, is the Board of Ed School Program people

         25  coming to testify?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes. Two more

          3  witnesses. City Harvest to talk about what they do

          4  and how that will fit in, and then the Board of Ed

          5  to talk about their programs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Mr. Berg,

          7  when you explain why we have overages, because of

          8  the unpredictability, isn't that the same --

          9  wouldn't the same factors also be that you can't

         10  have predictability in what you are going to provide

         11  to the kitchens or wherever you are going to donate

         12  the overfood?

         13                 MR. BERG: Precisely. And that is why

         14  in our original applications we decided not to ask

         15  for poundage predictions. However, I would say the

         16  way City Harvest works, and many others,

         17  particularly in cities this big, that

         18  unpredictability in an individual instance,

         19  aggregates into predictability, a large place. I

         20  wouldn't say that applies to voting in Florida -- I

         21  didn't say that. But that the bottom line is, one

         22  particular food service operation on one day might

         23  not have overage, but their neighbor might.

         24                 Obviously there are some Citywide

         25  things, whether there are sicknesses, other things
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          2  that are unpredictable, but because these

          3  organizations have so many different sources,

          4  including, by the way, federal commodities, people

          5  may say let the kitchens and the pantries do it, not

          6  government, but that's a false choice. Much of what

          7  they are distributing is government commodities. One

          8  of the reasons we have that is this bottom line

          9  safety net that when other donations aren't there

         10  federal food is. So, I say it is unpredictable on a

         11  daily basis, and so certainly no organization I

         12  think would plan their whole year around a

         13  certifiable supply of excess food from any one

         14  source. But given the fact it is the largest source.

         15  Same as we have had with operations that work with

         16  military cases, they don't rely upon it, but

         17  certainly when they get it, it is a huge windfall

         18  and allows them to really preserve some of their

         19  more, longer shelf life food.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: This is what

         21  my reaction to all of this is. I think it's a fine

         22  program and it falls within the realm of --  I mean,

         23  I am not thin because I eat everything that is left

         24  over so it doesn't get wasted, and I believe in

         25  that, but I think the emphasis, or the way the
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          2  resolution is worded, and I am sitting next to the

          3  prime sponsor who is, rightfully so, very proud of

          4  this resolution, this is not an answer to anything.

          5  It is a very nice program, but I think what we need

          6  to do is to understand exactly what the Board of

          7  Ed's policies are, to find out exactly where this

          8  food gets distributed at the time, if it is

          9  lunchtime food, does it go to places that have

         10  adequate facilities to make it dinner, or what do

         11  they do with all of this food? And in a way, it

         12  isn't subject so much to a resolution -- the

         13  resolution should be oversight of the program, and

         14  our emphasis should be on how much of that food can

         15  we really use and where would it go, rather than

         16  presenting it to us as a way of helping emergency

         17  food programs and soup kitchens that are in so much

         18  trouble.

         19                 I mean, I think there is a larger

         20  inadequacy somehow in this City that we are not

         21  using enough of our own funds to add to the money

         22  that goes to the food kitchens, to the food pantries

         23  and the food programs.

         24                 But I don't want this to become the

         25  view that we have that this is going to get us
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          2  through this next budget cycle and provide the

          3  necessary equipment. So, it makes me very fearful.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          5  There is really no basis for your fear, because

          6  every year we have addressed the broader issue of

          7  hunger. We are responsible, this Committee in

          8  general, in particular actually, the Council in

          9  general and this Committee in particular, for

         10  restoring and adding money, both for food stamp

         11  outreach, for actual food purchases distribution.

         12  The Administration has resisted us often. You and I

         13  and every member of this Committee long knows that

         14  these have been our battles. But within that bigger

         15  context, today, which is unusual for the General

         16  Welfare Committee, we are looking at one very

         17  simple, but significant piece.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But I would

         19  say it is not that simple. So, I think that is where

         20  we are doing this incorrectly.

         21                 It is not as people think, and I

         22  don't agree with you that we always restore it or

         23  add to, so I don't like the answer that you just

         24  gave me, but it is fine. I respect that you are

         25  having this resolution and this hearing and it is
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          2  fine. Maybe we will uncover some of the different

          3  problems that will show up in this thing. But this

          4  is an inadequate thing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Fine. No

          6  problem.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: It is also

          8  interesting to me at the same time that we talk

          9  about decreasing the bureaucracy in the Board of

         10  Education, we are going to expand into a whole major

         11  food program.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         14  Council Member.

         15                 MR. BERG: May I just say, in all of

         16  the 12 school districts, Madam Councilwoman, not one

         17  of the school districts had to hire even a single

         18  part-time employee to do this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: You are

         20  talking about Lawrence, Long Island? Is that where

         21  you are talking about? We are talking about New York

         22  City. It is a little different. It has a higher

         23  concentration of poor people who are not eating. I

         24  mean, I think you have to take the places, the 12

         25  sites and give us some comparable figures as to the
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          2  percentage of the people that need the food.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I don't mean

          5  to denigrate your program. I think it is fine and I

          6  would like to see it, and I think it is a great

          7  educational tool for the kids, and it is something

          8  that should happen. That's all, thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Let me turn to

         10  the final Council member, Council Member Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman.

         13                 One of the places that some of this

         14  food winds up at, Council Member Eldridge, is in the

         15  bellies of rats, the four-legged ones. I know from

         16  parents that come to my office in my district, and

         17  actually now throughout the City, that we have a

         18  serious rat infestation problem both in and around

         19  our public schools, and some of the food that those

         20  rats are feasting on is this food, this excess food.

         21                 You know, I come from the waste not

         22  want not era and if there was one thing that my

         23  grandmother informed would get me to hell is the sin

         24  of wasting food. So, I have a natural sympathy for

         25  this project, and, in fact, I would like to be
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          2  listed as one of the sponsors of this resolution.

          3                 However, I also remember the shame of

          4  those surplus food lines, as I grew up in my

          5  neighborhood, and that shame now has turned to some

          6  real outreach, because 40, 50 years later the lines

          7  still exist, but now at food pantries, and the lines

          8  seem to be growing daily.

          9                 So, I share some of the concerns

         10  expressed by my colleagues about that fundamental

         11  problem by comparison to this problem, and it's a

         12  big, big problem that this Committee, in particular,

         13  has been attempting to address time and time again.

         14  And obviously, no one is expecting this resolution,

         15  I would hope, is expecting that this resolution

         16  addresses it.

         17                 But it does attempt to, from what I

         18  can see, you know, not waste this extra food that is

         19  in our schools.

         20                 I have a few questions relating to

         21  sort of the mechanics of this, as your Department

         22  has been involved. The 12 schools are in New York

         23  State or throughout the country?

         24                 MR. BERG: Throughout the country.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How large
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          2  were these schools, roughly?

          3                 MR. BERG: Some rural, some were

          4  suburban, such as Lawrence or Hewlitt on Long

          5  Island.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How large in

          7  terms of student population would you say?

          8                 MR. BERG: I honestly don't know. But

          9  I can say in terms of scale, not just with school

         10  districts, we facilitated nationally through our

         11  foreign service agency, hundreds of millions of

         12  pounds of donated food throughout the country, so we

         13  do have a sense of doing this on a fairly massive

         14  scale.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I have no

         16  doubt of that. For instance, would you say these

         17  areas had a population of more than 140,000 people?

         18                 MR. BERG: I would certainly think the

         19  districts on Long Island would, and certainly I know

         20  the Memphis School District certainly does.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Of the 12

         22  would you say they had a population of a million?

         23  Did any have a population of a million?

         24                 MR. BERG: I don't think so.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In general.
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          2  So they probably have less than a million students.

          3                 MR. BERG: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, number

          5  one.

          6                 Number two, I am asking these

          7  questions not as a criticism, I am just trying to

          8  understand the mechanics of this, as you know.

          9                 MR. BERG: Okay, let me just say one

         10  thing. I really suggest it is a lot simpler than you

         11  think.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I know you

         13  are suggesting that, and I am trying to understand

         14  it.

         15                 MR. BERG: If I may just give a

         16  specific instance of how it would work in the

         17  schools.

         18                 Right now my understanding is there

         19  is no one in, you know, in the central school

         20  district to count how much food excess there are. In

         21  most of the operations it is just not done. So, it

         22  really comes down to someone at the individual food

         23  service operation taking the excess food, putting it

         24  in the bag and putting it in the dumpster. I really

         25  don't think it is oversimplifying it to say that all
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          2  it means, instead of putting in a bag, putting it in

          3  a dumpster, putting it in a container that you put

          4  in the back of the freezer and that someone like

          5  City Harvest comes and picks it up. Same person

          6  still doing a task, not an additional minute of

          7  their time, instead of putting it into the dumpster,

          8  which the City presumably pays carting and dumping

          9  fees for, putting it in a different container that

         10  is frozen and taken away later. No one needs to keep

         11  records of it, no one needs to do anything

         12  dramatically different. If they are not keeping

         13  records of it now when it is thrown out, you know,

         14  common sense would say you don't necessarily keep

         15  records when it is donated, except the fact that the

         16  recipients organization, assuming they are

         17  legitimate, they do the work and they keep the

         18  records. There is very little work.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I don't

         20  mean to frustrate you, I just am trying to be as

         21  smart as you are about it, that's all.

         22                 MR. BERG: I don't know your district,

         23  I know this.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

         25  challenging you at all. So, please don't feel that
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          2  way. Are you relaxed now?

          3                 MR. BERG: I am relaxed. This is how I

          4  relax.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right,

          6  fine. Just getting to know you kind of a thing.

          7                 So, there are 32 districts in the

          8  City. I am just trying to understand, like in these

          9  places, just do they have like one district that

         10  just more or less managed all of the schools? Like

         11  in New York City we have 32 districts and a central

         12  board. So, like in my district, for instance, I have

         13  two school districts, 3 and 5, and just trying to

         14  understand, it's somewhat the mechanics of how that

         15  was done; do you know?

         16                 MR. BERG: Yes, each of these school

         17  districts operate differently. Some have central

         18  food production facilities, where the food is

         19  produced in one central location and then

         20  distributed to all of the schools, and recovery

         21  happens from the central facilities.

         22                 Some there is a mix of that, and

         23  some, most of the food is actually produced on site.

         24                 If I can try to give perhaps a

         25  different illustration, Seven Eleven stores
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          2  throughout the country, after the Good Samaritan

          3  bill was passed, started donation. And basically

          4  what they do is they switch sandwiches each night

          5  and they put in new ones and groups come in and take

          6  away the sandwiches and the people at the store do

          7  it.

          8                 You know, we are the biggest

          9  bureaucracy on the planet with 100,000 employees or

         10  close to it and a few thousand field offices, so I

         11  have a pretty good understanding of complex

         12  bureaucracies, and when we told our field staff that

         13  all they had to do was donate and they didn't have

         14  to fill out paperwork, you know, they couldn't

         15  believe it either, but I really would suggest, my

         16  view, it would work most effectively and incredibly

         17  decentralized, giving authority to the local person

         18  on-site to make a daily decision whether there is

         19  excess wholesome food, and if there is some feeling

         20  that that needs to be kept in paperwork, I am sure

         21  the non-profit groups can give a receipt. It could

         22  happen on a Citywide basis, it could happen on an

         23  individual school district pilot basis, many

         24  options.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 Mr. Chairman, I just want to be clear

          4  that I am supporting this resolution. Obviously the

          5  witness has sort of an executive visionary

          6  perspective on this and doesn't quite appreciate the

          7  mechanics of it, as I am looking at it particularly

          8  as it relates to New York, and the complexity of New

          9  York City. You know, and I, as you know, sit on the

         10  Contracts Committee, and we had to have hearings

         11  recently about the food service contractors, and the

         12  scam that was perpetrated by that. And while that, I

         13  think we could overcome that, I can tell you that

         14  there would have to be a better accounting for the

         15  amount of food bought and the amount of food

         16  distributed to make sure that certain type of

         17  schemes didn't take place.

         18                 So, I am not dissing this at all, but

         19  I just think that it's a wonderful idea that the

         20  Board of Ed will have to look at in terms of, you

         21  know, really being able to manage it, especially

         22  from the perspective of corruption.

         23                 MR. BERG: Let me be crystal clear.

         24  The amounts of food purchased, and the amount of

         25  food distributed to students must be accounted for
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          2  in a detailed way per student, per pound under

          3  federal.

          4                 I am not talking about the purchasing

          5  of the food or the distribution of the food. I am

          6  talking about after that is done and after that is

          7  accounted for, which should already be done and

          8  accounted for under existing federal law, what you

          9  do with the excess. And all I am saying is the

         10  excess food currently isn't accounted for, if it is

         11  thrown away.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, the

         13  questions that you raise, perhaps unwittingly, is

         14  why isn't it accounted for? Do you understand? Maybe

         15  we need to begin to look at all this excess food

         16  that apparently is not accounted for.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I think what

         18  the witness is saying is that all of the contracts,

         19  purchasing, levels of food, personnel involved, the

         20  things where there may be problems, vendors, that's

         21  all --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Accounted

         23  for.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: -- Accounted,

         25  good, bad or indifferent, you know, well run, not

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  well run, scandalous or anything in between. Now it

          3  is all done. Could it always be done better, could

          4  there be contract committees looking at it,

          5  education committees looking at it? Yes.

          6                 At the end of the day a certain

          7  number of meals are actually prepared from all of

          8  that work, and at the end of that day some of them

          9  are thrown in the garbage, could we instead throw

         10  them in the back of a truck?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, we can.

         12  My concern, though, is I guess if there is so much

         13  excess as is being suggested, that in itself raises

         14  a concern; do you understand what I am saying?

         15                 It is not that I don't want the food

         16  to go to the floor, or that I think as a parent that

         17  it is always predictable what my children will want

         18  to eat at any given point in time --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You are

         20  looking at the big picture.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But if it is

         22  that much excess, if I was able to -- you know, if

         23  you, as a member of the Council, had that much

         24  excess in terms of supplies you bought and never

         25  used, you might be on the other side of the --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So that is

          4  all I am saying. It's a question. But I think it is

          5  a good idea. I think that it is a valuable thing and

          6  we need to pursue it. I want to thank John Sabini

          7  for bringing it to us and allowing us to look at it

          8  in terms of its positives, and also to look at the

          9  larger picture as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Thank

         11  you. Thank you, Mr. Berg. I appreciate your

         12  testimony.

         13                 MR. BERG: If the Pentagon with its

         14  extreme bureaucracy can overcome this, I am

         15  confident that New York City could as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: For the

         17  record, just a sense, there are school districts all

         18  throughout the country. We do have the list in

         19  Albany County, in Wyoming, a place in South Carolina

         20  and some other places in New York, Pennsylvania,

         21  Oklahoma, Kansas, Connecticut, and the list goes on,

         22  so it sounds like the districts vary.

         23                 Of course the Contracts Committee and

         24  the Education Committee would and could always look

         25  at the overall operations, including the points, the
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          2  broad points correctly raised by my colleagues, but

          3  in the short range we do have the reality that is in

          4  front of us and hopefully this might help.

          5                 Some of the numbers, for example,

          6  810,000 meals on a daily basis, if only about two

          7  and a half or five percent of that could be

          8  recaptured and I don't know that that is a standard

          9  for what is thrown out, but that is 20,000 to 40,000

         10  meals give or take that could help folks on the

         11  short range.

         12                 Whether in fact a perfect system

         13  wouldn't have that much overage or a more efficient

         14  system, according to the witness, the best of places

         15  have overage, the fanciest of restaurants, you know,

         16  the biggest to the smallest of operations. But is

         17  there a way to redistribute from the bottom and

         18  always make it more efficient so that there is less

         19  potential waste? I guess there is and that is what

         20  Council Member Perkins was speaking to.

         21                 Let's get our next witness and then

         22  the Board of Ed.

         23                 Our next witness is John Krakowiski,

         24  from City Harvest, and then we will have the Board.

         25                 John, I direct your attention to the
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          2  Counsel to the Committee, please.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          4  hand. Do you solemnly swear or affirm that the

          5  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

          6  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Yes, sir.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

          9  and affiliation for the record.

         10                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Okay. My name is John

         11  Krakowski, I am the Director of Policy and Community

         12  Affairs at City Harvest, which is a food rescue

         13  program in New York City.

         14                 I just want to start by saying that

         15  my nightmare over the last five and a half years has

         16  happened. I have always had a nightmare of following

         17  Secretary Glickman or Joel Berg, giving speeches,

         18  and as you can see, there is a passion, in a day and

         19  a half before my nightmare would have ended it

         20  occurred.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         22  submit written testimony on Resolution 1627 by the

         23  Honorable John Sabini. Julia Erickson, our Executive

         24  Director, thanks the honorable Stephen DiBrienza,

         25  the Chairperson of the General Welfare Committee,
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          2  and the honorable members of the Committee for this

          3  opportunity to provide public comment. A previously

          4  scheduled Board of Directors meeting precludes

          5  Julia's presence today.

          6                 I am John A. Krakowski, RD, also

          7  known as the "Food Safety Guy" at City Harvest.

          8                 I have prepared written testimony, I

          9  have given it to you. I am going to try to ad-lib. I

         10  think that you have asked some pretty great

         11  questions here, and I am hopeful that I will be able

         12  to help you. My experience of 25 years in food

         13  service administration, I think will hopefully

         14  answer some of your questions, as well as my five

         15  years of experience at City Harvest, as well as the

         16  intellect of Americas Harvest and Food Chain, which

         17  I have been exposed to over the last five years.

         18                 City Harvest is the world's oldest

         19  and largest food rescue program in the nation, and

         20  we regularly distribute food to more than 600

         21  emergency food programs, from soup kitchens and

         22  homeless shelters to AIDS care providers, senior

         23  centers and children's day care centers.

         24                 We help provide healthy meals to an

         25  estimated 130,000 New Yorkers each week, and
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          2  although people think of us as a food charity, we

          3  really identify the work that we do as a health care

          4  program, because we help hungry New Yorkers stay

          5  alive, and it is our belief that every aspect of

          6  social welfare is really health care programs and

          7  not public assistance.

          8                 Resolution 1627 urges the New York

          9  City Board of Education to implement a school lunch

         10  recovery program based on the USDA's Food Recovery

         11  and Gleaning Program where excess food would be

         12  donated to emergency food programs in soup kitchens.

         13                 As the Food Rescue Program in New

         14  York City, City Harvest unequivocally supports this

         15  resolution.

         16                 Each day and from every part of the

         17  food system, restaurants, supermarkets, bakeries,

         18  Greenmarkets, corporate cafeterias, hospitals,

         19  farms, manufacturers, distributors, colleges and

         20  universities and private schools, the Commissary at

         21  Ft. Hamilton, the Cook/Chill facility at the New

         22  York State Office of Mental Health, we capture safe

         23  and wholesome food that would otherwise be wasted

         24  and we deliver it to community-based programs that

         25  serve the hungry and those in need.
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          2                 At the first summit on food recovery

          3  and gleaning held in 1997, Secretary Glickman of the

          4  USDA, stated, "America's dumpsters should not be

          5  better fed than its people." And we would support

          6  that in New York City also.

          7                 Yet, each year 35 million people go

          8  hungry, while 96 billion pounds of food gets thrown

          9  away.

         10                 This is not an acceptable use of

         11  America's resources, and is simply a waste.

         12                 Under Secretary of the USDA, Shirley

         13  Watkins, a former school food service director, and

         14  the president of the school food service

         15  association, identified the nation's school system

         16  as a potential source of food for food recovery

         17  programs and challenged us food rescuers across the

         18  country to contact their local school system.

         19                 Senior staff members at City Harvest

         20  were invited to speak at the Summit based on our

         21  experience and knowledge of organizational systems,

         22  transportation methods and food safety and food

         23  recovery. In the school districts where the pilot

         24  programs were held are in fact listed, and they are

         25  certainly not the New York City school system, but
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          2  they are certainly examples of where the program has

          3  in fact been working.

          4                 I would like you to inform the City

          5  Council of our efforts to ensure the donation, the

          6  receipt, the delivery and use of donated foods.

          7  Since its inception, City Harvest has been keenly

          8  concerned with food safety, in fact our beginning

          9  history indicates that we work with the New York

         10  City Department of Health. Since 1995 we have

         11  initiated an enhanced food safety program, including

         12  food safety training for program, staff and

         13  volunteers and emergency food recipient

         14  organizations. Our initial efforts use the food

         15  safety curriculum and educational series provided by

         16  the Chef and Child Foundation of the American

         17  Culinary Federation where local chefs actually

         18  assisted City Harvest staff in providing the

         19  program. We then took it to the next step giving

         20  some agencies enhanced food safety training and we

         21  use the curriculum of Cornell University called the

         22  Safety and Food Excellence Program.

         23                 In addition to these formal training

         24  programs on food safety, program staff provide

         25  technical assistance to the Emergency Food Network
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          2  during periodic agency meetings conducted at City

          3  Harvest, and routine visits which we conduct at

          4  least annually to monitor compliance with safe food

          5  handling practices. Agency response, the providers

          6  who we train, has consistently been positive.

          7                 Based on the high value we place on

          8  food safety, City Harvest initiated the ServSafe

          9  training program for emergency food recipient

         10  organizations. This curriculum is an industry

         11  benchmark in what we refer to as the Cadilac of food

         12  safety programs that was developed by the

         13  educational foundation of the National Restaurant

         14  Association, and program providers from all over the

         15  City come to City Harvest for two full

         16  non-consecutive days of training. They get a course

         17  book and we give them a national certification exam.

         18                 Most recently we have implemented the

         19  Cornell University's Soup-Up Food Safety in Your

         20  Kitchen program, and we provide a variety of

         21  scheduling options for people to attend the program.

         22                 Most recently we are active on the

         23  Policy Committee on New York City Hunger Resources.

         24  This group includes representatives from the New

         25  York State Department of Health, the Hunger
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          2  Prevention Assistance Program, the New York City

          3  Department of Health, the Bureau of Inspections, as

          4  well as the Health Academy, EFAP, through the New

          5  York City Human Resources Administration, United

          6  Way, Food for Survival, the New York City Food Bank

          7  and City Harvest, the food rescue program of New

          8  York City.

          9                 We have been an active participant in

         10  the food safety subgroup, as well as we have been

         11  working with the Conference on Food Protection and

         12  we are looking forward to the dissemination of the

         13  National Food Recovery Guidelines in the 2001 model

         14  food code.

         15                 The simple message that we would like

         16  to deliver today is that if, if there is excess food

         17  that is safe and wholesome at the Board of Ed, City

         18  Harvest can distribute it to New Yorkers who need

         19  it.

         20                 We understand fully that the goal of

         21  the Board of Education is to control overproduction

         22  and minimize waste, just like any other food system;

         23  however, food forecasting has a similar margin of

         24  error as weather forecasting, even the most

         25  efficiently-run kitchens will find themselves from
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          2  time to time with excess food. When this happens, a

          3  call to City Harvest can ensure that this overage

          4  will not go to waste, guaranteeing the most

          5  efficient use of taxpayer dollars.

          6                 We are encouraged by the Board of Ed

          7  response. We had a meeting last month, there is one

          8  scheduled for tomorrow. We have offered several

          9  suggestions for pick-up options, including our

         10  volunteer-based street fleet program, and this

         11  program is actually to the left of me, and it

         12  actually includes, the tools that we give to people

         13  including a calibrated thermometer, the tool to

         14  calibrate the thermometer, alcohol pads and receipt

         15  to give to people, as well as the necessary supplies

         16  that might be needed.

         17                 In the Street Fleet program food

         18  donors are paired with nearby agencies allowing

         19  smaller food donations to be delivered by volunteers

         20  on foot.

         21                 The call-in option allows donors to

         22  contact us and schedule a pick up of the chilled

         23  food for the next day. I just want to make one

         24  message. If there is hot food today, we would love

         25  for you to chill it down and give it to us tomorrow.
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          2  We are unable to accept hot food for delivery

          3  because it is not consistent with the national State

          4  or City food code.

          5                 We are offered the food safety

          6  expertise of our staff to help guide them through

          7  the dos and don'ts of food rescue and help

          8  familiarize them with City Harvest and the work we

          9  do.

         10                 We commend Council Member Sabini for

         11  requesting that the City Council adopt the

         12  resolution urging the New York City Board of Ed to

         13  implement a school lunch recovery program, based on

         14  USDA's Food Recovery and Gleaning Program where

         15  excess food will be donated to emergency food

         16  programs and soup kitchens.

         17                 On behalf of our Executive Director

         18  Julia Erickson, the City Harvest Board of Directors,

         19  staff, volunteers and our network of 600 emergency

         20  food programs, thank you for the opportunity to

         21  present our views. And if additional information is

         22  needed, please contact us. And we would certainly

         23  invite any member of the Committee to come and visit

         24  City Harvest and see what our operation is and ride

         25  on our truck so you can observe some of our
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          2  practices.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. I

          4  just have one question, because there is a part of

          5  your testimony that was similar to a part of Mr.

          6  Berg's testimony; that is this notion that all food

          7  service, preparations, operations, if you will, have

          8  some margin for excess. I mean, is that something

          9  that is addressed repeatedly by those food service

         10  operations and organizations? In other words, when

         11  they begin is it usually greater, they learn, they

         12  do a little bit better and so on? Does that

         13  fluctuate or is it just you kind of start out here

         14  somewhere and it is a downward trend and you try to

         15  get as close to the margin as possible?

         16                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: You know, ironically,

         17  the reason why food service managers have jobs is

         18  because they are great at managing food systems. But

         19  food forecasting, you know, predicting demand, one

         20  food next to the other, taking into account the

         21  weather, how somebody feels, there are lots of

         22  variables that affect that.

         23                 The one thing I would like you to

         24  know, though, is that we are sometimes at City

         25  Harvest our own worst enemy, because what happens is
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          2  when people start donating food to us, and they

          3  start seeing the receipts that we give to them, they

          4  start saying, huh, maybe we need to tighten control

          5  up in this location. And, so, what happens is,

          6  sometimes people start off as what we could call

          7  regular donor, regular means we preplan it, we

          8  schedule it once a week, and then it turns out that

          9  the people start creating tighter controls, and then

         10  they end up being a call-in donor. We think that the

         11  Board of Ed, our past experience has been, is that

         12  there is, in fact, not predictable waste in

         13  different locations, and you know, we are ready for

         14  this call-in system, we are ready to work with the

         15  Board of Ed on the Street Fleet Program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Two things

         17  about that. Other than that you are your own worst

         18  enemy kind of feeling, it is not necessarily a bad

         19  thing, that if your taking and recovering of excess

         20  food over time leads an entity to be more efficient

         21  and produce less excess, I mean in the big scheme of

         22  things is not necessarily bad.

         23                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Well, Mr. Chairman, we

         24  are really lucky because there are 20,000 food

         25  outlets in New York City, so when one doesn't become
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          2  a regular, we go after someone else.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: My point is,

          4  you would agree that is not necessarily a bad thing,

          5  because the entity becomes more efficient.

          6                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good.

          8                 And secondly, and it is meshed in

          9  what you said, what that results in is not a set

         10  amount of recoverable food, but a varying amount,

         11  and that is likely to happen with the Board of Ed.

         12                 That is not something you are not

         13  used to, you are used to that in fact already.

         14                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I wanted to be

         16  sure about that.

         17                 And whether or not you could recover

         18  from every single school in the system, because this

         19  is, my colleague, Council Member Perkins alluded to

         20  this, a much bigger system than any of the even

         21  dozen or so that have been part of a model or others

         22  have tried it, the fact of the matter is there is no

         23  magic saying it could only work if we recover

         24  something from every single school. It ultimately, a

         25  little bit of trial and error, how much capacity you
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          2  have and so on; isn't that the case?

          3                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: We firmly believe that

          4  a slow and steady program is probably the best way

          5  to do it. Certainly the commitment from City

          6  Harvest, the commitment from the Board of Ed, and I

          7  believe that over time that places where there is

          8  excess product, that a simple call to City Harvest

          9  and we will be there the next day.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I take it

         11  also, because I see some of the trucks and I see

         12  some of the publicity you pick up now from the

         13  growing number of restaurants and other food service

         14  institutions here in the City?

         15                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: We pick up on a

         16  regular basis from more than 650 donors, meaning at

         17  least once a week we go to one of their locations to

         18  pick up food. Beyond that we have thousands and

         19  thousands of donors who give to us on a call-in

         20  basis. We probably receive between 6,000 and 7,000

         21  donations of food each month, as well as

         22  transporting large quantities of fresh produce from

         23  farms in the country.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I see. And I

         25  take it that since you are involved in the food
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          2  recovery and redistribution, you know, kind of area

          3  of this sort of overall puzzle, that you don't

          4  present that as the only option.

          5                 In other words, our continuous need

          6  to ensure otherwise eligible and New Yorkers in need

          7  have adequate food stamps, or our need to support

          8  food stamp outreach or actual direct grants to food

          9  pantry programs, or the need for appropriate

         10  committees to look at all of the apparatus the Board

         11  is involved with hiring, producing, vending, et

         12  cetera, and getting the food to first the table of

         13  the students and then if there is excess to a

         14  redistribution point. I mean, I assume you see the

         15  value of all of those other pieces of this puzzle,

         16  even though you do one specific piece?

         17                 MR. KRAKOWSKI: Unequivocally, I would

         18  like you to know that City Harvest identifies itself

         19  as a smart, simple solution for the short-term. We

         20  certainly acknowledge the fact that it is by the

         21  will of policy that we will be able to make sure

         22  that all Americans, all people living in America,

         23  have access to the basic human needs, housing, food,

         24  and water. And then we also believe that there is a

         25  social will and that it is up to people, and that we
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          2  believe our existence attempts to influence the

          3  social will of people.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you very

          5  much for your testimony.

          6                 We are going to take our final

          7  witness. We may have to record one or more of the

          8  votes of colleagues, there are several hearings

          9  going on at the same time, so that in anticipation

         10  we may just have to do that.

         11                 Let me get the final witness up here.

         12  Barbara Gulotta, from the New York City Board of

         13  Education, the Office of School, Food and Nutrition

         14  Services.

         15                 Let me have -- while you are sitting,

         16  if you can just bear with us a moment, we are going

         17  to record the vote of Council Member Dilan on

         18  Resolution 1627.

         19                 Council Member.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: I vote

         21  aye. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We will hear

         23  from the witness, final questions, and then the

         24  Committee will vote on the resolution to close the

         25  hearing.
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          2                 I am sorry, your attention first to

          3  the Counsel of this Committee.

          4                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          5  hand.

          6                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

          7  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

          8  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 MS. GULOTTA: Yes.

         10                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

         11  and affiliation for the record.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: When the light

         13  is out the mike is on and you have to get really

         14  close to it.

         15                 MS. GULOTTA: Barbara Gulotta, Office

         16  of Food School and Nutrition Services, New York City

         17  Board of Education.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Welcome.

         19                 You can begin.

         20                 MS. GULOTTA: Good morning.

         21                 The primary goal of the food service

         22  programs provided by the New York City Board of

         23  Education's Office of School Food and Nutrition

         24  Services is to offer nutritious high-quality meals

         25  to students, and this way we help them achieve
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          2  optimum health and enhance their ability to learn so

          3  they can derive maximum benefit from their

          4  educational programs.

          5                 For the past 17 years we have

          6  conducted a relentless drive to improve both the

          7  quality of the food and the service.

          8                 Our Food Technology Department works

          9  closely with manufacturers and government agencies,

         10  such as the United States Department of Agriculture,

         11  to develop new menu items and product

         12  specifications.

         13                 An extensive program of product

         14  testing, both in house and with students in the

         15  field, is conducted to access product acceptability

         16  and ensure continued adherence to quality and

         17  nutritional standards.

         18                 We offer a variety of service options

         19  including "self serve" salad bars and fruit bars and

         20  deli bars where sandwiches are made to order.

         21                 As an actual consequence we were able

         22  to increase the participation of 80 million to over

         23  160 million meals served this year.

         24                 Three years ago we began an intensive

         25  HACCP Program, which is Hazard Analysis Critical
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          2  Control Points, which is state-of-the-art. It

          3  applies a thorough and scientific analysis to all

          4  aspects of the meal production process to identify

          5  and put in place all of the appropriate safety

          6  precautions. All employees have been trained in

          7  these procedures which cover all aspects of meal

          8  production from receipt and storage to meal

          9  preparation and service.

         10                 HAACP monitors visit each school to

         11  help assure compliance with established procedures

         12  and conduct additional instructions needed.

         13                 A team of quality assurance.

         14  Specialists conducts routine inspections of all

         15  school kitchens and evaluates each facility for

         16  adherence to established food handling and storage

         17  procedures. Any areas in need of improvement are

         18  addressed immediately.

         19                 The OSFNS field management team

         20  routinely visits each of their locations to observe

         21  all aspects of the program. Again, any variances are

         22  corrected on the spot.

         23                 It has been a relentless drive and we

         24  can state that 2.3 billion meals have been served

         25  without one case of confirmed food-related illness.
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          2                 Recently Carol Anne Riddell of WNBC

          3  reported that schools were discarding leftovers.

          4  That is true. We will not serve any leftover items

          5  that do not adhere to the established criteria of

          6  satisfactory appearance, aroma, taste and texture,

          7  or are not able to withstand re-heating and holding

          8  at the appropriate temperatures with satisfactory

          9  results.

         10                 With our dual focus of food safety

         11  and food quality, we tend to err on the side of

         12  caution when evaluating all mean items, but

         13  particularly leftovers.

         14                 However, we are aware that there are

         15  some circumstances under which charitable

         16  organizations may be able to use thesee products and

         17  we are willing to donate them as long as we can be

         18  assured that they will be handled properly.

         19                 We met with representatives of City

         20  Harvest on November 29th, 2000, to discuss expanding

         21  our partnership. They explained their new "Street

         22  Fleet" volunteer program which expands their ability

         23  to pick up the small number of leftovers which would

         24  be found at a typical school without diverting their

         25  limited trucking fleet from collecting more
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          2  substantial donations. We also had the opportunity

          3  to review City Harvest's food safety program, which

          4  addressed our concerns regarding the proper handling

          5  of our product once it has left our hands.

          6                 We have reviewed locations in

          7  Manhattan and Brooklyn, areas in which City Harvest

          8  had expressed interest for a pilot program, and to

          9  date have identified 32 sites which we have

         10  determined to be viable sources of donations. City

         11  Harvest has evaluated these schools and determined

         12  that 25 meet their "Street Fleet" criteria which

         13  specifies that the donor be located within five

         14  blocks of a recipient agency.

         15                 City Harvest must now identify and

         16  train volunteers who will be assigned to the

         17  individual schools. In addition, a meeting is

         18  scheduled on January 19th, 2001, to discuss and

         19  finalize the donation collection procedures.

         20                 By utilizing leftovers within our own

         21  programs where possible, or when situations arise

         22  where it is not possible to do so, donating them to

         23  a charitable organization addresses the issue of

         24  waste, which is a critical concern not only in our

         25  operation, but also within our society.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, thank

          4  you. That is very pleasant news. I did not have a

          5  chance to talk to you before the hearing nor see

          6  your testimony, and I am happy to see the progress

          7  that has been made. No one, as you heard, suggests

          8  that the fact that there is some excess in your food

          9  system is any different apparently than food systems

         10  in the public and private sector from the smallest

         11  to the largest.

         12                 No one has suggested that we would

         13  rather see excess and redistribution rather than,

         14  you know, sort of closer to the cutting of the

         15  margin.

         16                 And, finally, no one has suggested

         17  that it isn't more important, and I think it is

         18  globally speaking, to get more eligible people into

         19  services and into the first line recipients; that is

         20  to say, whether it is food stamps of adults and

         21  children in and out of the system, or more children

         22  in the system who are eligible but somehow not

         23  participating in the programs, expanding capacity

         24  overall.

         25                 But whether you had minimal, average
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          2  or maximum capacity, it seems as though there is

          3  always some excess, and to the extent that that

          4  exists, this could be a very simple, but effective,

          5  short term help to people who could benefit from the

          6  redistributed meals. I do want you to understand,

          7  there are other Committees, the Contracts Committee,

          8  to look at the beginning of that process - how does

          9  it operate, who does it, who do you contract with,

         10  what kind of food - and those are important global

         11  issues.

         12                 The Board of Education, the Education

         13  Committee, could look at parts of that.

         14                 This Committee often deals with

         15  hunger in a much broader context. So, in a way this

         16  is almost a hybrid and unusual for us, but

         17  nonetheless important.

         18                 Let me just be clear on one thing.

         19  You have identified 32 sites which may be viable.

         20  That means 32 schools?

         21                 MS. GULOTTA: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Is that what I

         23  am to understand?

         24                 MS. GULOTTA: Yes, it is.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And of that 25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  met their criteria and they may or may not want to

          3  do all 25, but that is what you are still working

          4  at?

          5                 MS. GULOTTA: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you have a

          7  sense of the timing? In other words, if this is

          8  going to be a pilot, is this something that, let's

          9  do it for the balance of the school year and see

         10  what happens? You know, in terms of September, or is

         11  there just a sense let's do it for a couple of

         12  months? It may not have gotten that far.

         13                 MS. GULOTTA: We haven't gotten to

         14  that stage. We are going to have that meeting

         15  tomorrow and we are going to do a little more

         16  finalizing, now that we all are aware of the school

         17  locations.

         18                 I think the key is finding the

         19  volunteers to be able to service it, and to be

         20  trained in their safe handling programs, and we are

         21  available whenever they are ready to begin and we

         22  are willing to expand whenever they are ready to

         23  expand.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great.

         25                 I would suggest that one of the
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          2  things you might want to talk about, and Council

          3  Member Sabini had done some of this, the reporter

          4  who worked on the story had done some of this. You

          5  know, it seems that in the system there are, you

          6  know, variations from district to district, school

          7  to school, area to area, neighborhood to

          8  neighborhood, which ever way you want to look at it,

          9  even if you pick a set number of schools for what

         10  amounts to a pilot, it is just a suggestion that on

         11  an ongoing basis, the appropriate person yourself,

         12  or the appropriate person from your personnel, maybe

         13  some of the City Harvest folks, in other words, you

         14  may want to look at all of the -- you know, it would

         15  take awhile to do a thousand school buildings, you

         16  know, or a little over 1,000, you know, kind of look

         17  at all of them, gee, we didn't realize that, you

         18  know, in this particular quadrant here there are

         19  some schools that, you know, again, for various

         20  reasons, the excess is higher. Two things happen

         21  apparently: One, it gets effectively reused, but it

         22  also helps you guys begin to push that excess down

         23  and meet somewhere in the middle.

         24                 So, all I am saying, as important as

         25  it is to get it up and running and somewhere,
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          2  because you have to be somewhere before you are

          3  everywhere, I think it would probably be helpful to

          4  look at a wide array as possible.

          5                 MS. GULOTTA: We do account for all of

          6  our food items, including leftovers, and we have

          7  systems to utilize as much as we can within our own

          8  program. And jointly then with City Harvest, if they

          9  can also let us know when they have additional

         10  receiver locations, we could team them up.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I see.

         12                 Well, this is, again, maybe I spoke

         13  too soon about this square pegs and round hole, we

         14  seem to be shaving some the squareness away, and

         15  that is to your credit. In the shortrun it is

         16  helpful. Again, appropriate committees look at the

         17  system and its various components, we look at the

         18  overall needs of New Yorkers when it comes to hunger

         19  as well as so many other areas.

         20                 Let me keep you for a moment, they

         21  will fill in Council Member Sabini, his assistant is

         22  here, and fill him in, he may have a question, and

         23  then Council Member Eldridge has a question and then

         24  we will wrap up this portion as a final witness,

         25  this portion of the hearing.
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          2                 Again, understand the resolution

          3  really says the Board of Ed should implement this

          4  kind of program, and we don't impose upon you a

          5  methodology or a which school how to, so I think it

          6  is still relevant for us as a Committee and the

          7  Council as a whole to say you should implement. And,

          8  again, I will talk to the sponsor as to whether, in

          9  a few moments, whether he wants to do any further

         10  editing of it, but it generally says you should do

         11  this, and you know, you are obviously talking about

         12  doing it, so that's a good thing.

         13                 Council Member Sabini and Eldridge

         14  have questions, and then we will wrap this part up.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I am sorry I

         16  wasn't here earlier for your testimony, I had a

         17  meeting with the Speaker.

         18                 I appreciate that you are being a

         19  little bit more proactive here in trying to address

         20  what is an obvious, to me at least, an obvious

         21  problem, and I am sorry it had to take in some cases

         22  film footage to have the Board admit that it is a

         23  problem. But why wouldn't you just sit down right

         24  now with City Harvest and say how can we do this on

         25  as broad -- how much can you handle and we will give
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          2  you all you can handle? Why wouldn't you just do

          3  that now? Because we had testimony from the federal

          4  government that says there is not a bureaucratic

          5  paperwork situation here, they just make the phone

          6  call, people show up, the food is gone, it goes in

          7  the right place. Why wouldn't you just sit down with

          8  City Harvest right now and say how much can you

          9  handle? We will do as much as you can handle?

         10                 MS. GULOTTA: Let me just say this, we

         11  did address City Harvest and we sat down and we

         12  offered up the whole City to them and at that time

         13  the decision was they wanted to make sure it was a

         14  viable program, to make sure that they had people

         15  coming in to volunteer that were not volunteering

         16  for no reason, they were volunteering, they knew

         17  they were going to a situation where they could pick

         18  up leftovers on a fairly regular basis. And they

         19  asked us to take a look at our production records to

         20  identify certain locations that we felt would be

         21  viable for that.

         22                 In addition, they asked us to look at

         23  certain areas, such as Manhattan and the Brooklyn

         24  area of District 15, where they had people they knew

         25  were interested in doing volunteering for that.
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          2                 I understand City Harvest has a

          3  limited trucking fleet, and they really do need to

          4  gear those to situations that they are going to have

          5  a large donation, not to go to school to pick up

          6  five hamburgers. So that is why we are working more

          7  at the Street Fleet location.

          8                 We have been working with City

          9  Harvest since 1983, and also since -- I personally

         10  have been working with them since 1985, around the

         11  City doing certain schools and certain functions.

         12  So, we do have an ongoing relationship, they are

         13  just now really expanding it at this point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And they do a

         15  good job at it.

         16                 I had the privilege of one time, or

         17  several times actually, doing an enforcement against

         18  food peddlers who are unlicensed, either the

         19  Department of Consumer Affairs or by the Department

         20  of Health, and taking the food that they were

         21  peddling illegally and getting it to City Harvest,

         22  and I was amazed at the speed and efficiency that

         23  that occurred. Because they were ready audiences to

         24  take this food.

         25                 Let me ask sort of a related
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          2  question, that doesn't address this but it is sort

          3  of symptomatic.

          4                 To the best of your knowledge, has

          5  there been any internal inspector general or

          6  investigation at the Board of Ed or by Special

          7  Prosecutor Mr. Stansik, about food leaving this

          8  system through school personnel? In other words, not

          9  necessarily in a pilfering situation, but like at

         10  the end of a week or like any other restaurant that

         11  at the end of the week maybe an assistant principal

         12  or a teacher says, hey, we got 300 juice boxes here,

         13  who wants them?

         14                 MS. GULOTTA: I have no knowledge of

         15  that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. And has

         17  that ever been looked at?

         18                 MS. GULOTTA: That is really not my

         19  area, so if it was, it wouldn't be brought to my

         20  attention.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         22                 That would be an interesting question

         23  to have answered. Because I think it is a natural

         24  thing to happen, not necessarily in a nefarious way,

         25  but since there is no outlet to establish now for
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          2  that food to go somewhere, that, again, people's

          3  instincts are not to waste things, and maybe they

          4  would say, well, why don't you take this home, or

          5  why don't you do something with this, and you know,

          6  if it is going to be used by personnel in the

          7  school, that is not really the way we should be

          8  going with this. I often say in my nine years here

          9  that what happens here isn't often translated to

         10  reality back in the streets. I think the reality

         11  back in the streets is that if you have got bread

         12  and it is leftover and you are going to close shop

         13  for the weekend that the bread somehow finds its way

         14  to someone in some cases, and it may not be the way

         15  it should be, and may be that there are people that

         16  could really use it, as opposed to people who use it

         17  out of convenience.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 Again, you can work with the

         22  Education Committee and/or the Contracts Committee

         23  on some of these broader operational questions.

         24                 Council Member Eldridge.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.
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          2                 I would just like to take this

          3  opportunity to learn some, you know, to get some

          4  figures.

          5                 So, on a daily basis do you have the

          6  average number of meals served?

          7                 MS. GULOTTA: Total meals, 860,000

          8  total meals a day.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And how many

         10  of those are free meals?

         11                 MS. GULOTTA: I don't have the actual

         12  number, but I believe it is approximately 90

         13  percent.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, is there

         15  the great -- there isn't a difference in the number

         16  of meals that are served; is that true? Is it the

         17  difference in what they select from meals, the

         18  overage? I mean, it isn't that some days only

         19  500,000 children get meals?

         20                 MS. GULOTTA: No. It is a difference

         21  of what the menu choices and new options may be, and

         22  you want to have enough there for every student to

         23  have the ability to choose whichever choice he or

         24  she wants.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And it is 90
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          2  percent you said?

          3                 MS. GULOTTA: Approximately.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, in the

          5  ten percent, is that a difference in the number of

          6  kids who buy their food that day?

          7                 MS. GULOTTA: It may vary on a

          8  school-to-school basis.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And do you

         10  keep consistent records so that we could see that?

         11                 MS. GULOTTA: Records are kept on a

         12  daily basis as to how many students eat and what

         13  categories they fall into.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Okay. That

         15  would be interesting information just to glean

         16  something about habits.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 MS. GULOTTA: You are welcome.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. We

         20  appreciate your testimony, and we want to encourage

         21  you to bring this, at least what appears to be a

         22  pilot effort to fruition, so that we might be able

         23  to recover more food, whatever amount it is and feed

         24  some folks while we work on some of the other issues

         25  brought up today.
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          2                 Also, I again remind you, it would be

          3  good to take a look at the entire system, and I know

          4  you have been talking about the entire system,

          5  apparently there may be other groups and

          6  organizations that could participate if this thing

          7  is successful.

          8                 MS. GULOTTA: That's a definite topic

          9  that will come up at tomorrow's meeting.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: May I just

         11  ask one question? The 860,000, is that meals or

         12  children?

         13                 MS. GULOTTA: It's meals.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How many

         15  children?

         16                 MS. GULOTTA: Well, 860,000 is the

         17  total, approximately I would say 200,000 of that

         18  give or take of breakfast. So, we are talking about

         19  560,000 children, if you assume everybody has

         20  breakfast and lunch. Some children don't have

         21  breakfast and do have lunch.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right. So,

         23  if they are just having lunch and they are eligible

         24  for a free school program, you can't break that out?

         25  Did they just break it out? I am sorry. I am having
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          2  trouble here.

          3                 MS. GULOTTA: Yes, we would know how

          4  many students had breakfast and that were free,

          5  reduced or full priced, and we would also know how

          6  many students had lunch that were free, reduced or

          7  full priced.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right.

          9                 MS. GULOTTA: We break it down for

         10  both meals.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So it is

         12  approximately 500,000.

         13                 MS. GULOTTA: It would be about 500 to

         14  600,000 lunch participants, and about 200,000

         15  breakfast participants, but that is assuming that

         16  the same children are eating breakfast and lunch.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         19  you for your testimony.

         20                 MS. GULOTTA: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I think the

         22  Committee wants to go on record as urging the Board

         23  to implement this recovery program based on USDA

         24  program. Again, it is some emergency, some excess

         25  food that could be donated to emergency programs
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          2  and/or soup kitchens.

          3                 With that, let's vote Resolution

          4  1627.

          5                 Call the roll.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: DiBrienza.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: For all the

          8  reasons as previously stated this morning, it seems

          9  to me that this is an important but not the only

         10  step that we can take to try to get some otherwise

         11  viable excess food to not be thrown into a garbage

         12  can but rather the back of a City Harvest truck or

         13  insulated bag and end up helping New Yorkers in need

         14  receive that food through food programs and/or soup

         15  kitchens.

         16                 So, for whatever amount of food might

         17  be involved, or for however many people might be

         18  fed, I think it is a good thing. I was presently

         19  surprised to hear the Board becoming flexible enough

         20  to start this.

         21                 For all those reasons I vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eldridge.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I vote yes.

         24                 I am hopeful that City Harvest will

         25  be able to help the Board do this. I am very pleased
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          2  that the Board is trying to do this, but I still

          3  stand by my earlier comments.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Henry.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Perkins.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rodriguez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Council Member

         11  Malave-Dilan having already voted, the vote stands

         12  at six in the affirmative, none in the negative, no

         13  abstentions, and is still open.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         15  That means it has passed the Committee, although we

         16  can record the votes of the additional members. Six

         17  affirmative votes passes the Committee.

         18                 The meeting is adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 12:05 p.m.)
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